IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

GARY MICHAEL HILTON,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC11-898

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR LEON COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

W. C. MCLAIN ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE SUITE 401 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 323 01 bill.mclain@flpd2.com (850) 606-1000

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT FLA. BAR NO. 201170

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The record on appeal consists of 43 volumes and 5,596 pages. Volumes 1 through 16 contains the various pleading, documents, and transcripts of motion hearings, including sentencing. These volumes are referenced with the prefix "R" in this brief. Seven volumes of transcripts are of the jury selection. These volumes are doubled numbered as 1 through 7 with page numbers 1 through 1083 and as volumes 17 through 23 of the appellate record. For clarity, references in this brief will be to the 1 through 7 volume numbers with the prefix "JS". The 14 volumes of the guilt phase of the trial are also doubled numbered as 1 through 14 with pages 1 through 1609 and record volumes 24 through 37. This brief will use the 1 through 14 volume references with the prefix "T". The penalty phase of the trial is contained in six volumes of transcript numbered 1 through 6 with pages 1 through 758 and as

record volumes 38 through 43. These volumes will be referenced with the 1 through 6 numbers with the prefix "P". A copy of the trial court's sentencing order is attached as an appendix to this brief and reference with "App."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Procedurual Progress Of The Case

On February 28, 2008, a Leon County grand jury indicted Gary Michael Hilton for first degree murder for the death of Cheryl Dunlap between December 1st and December 15th, 2007, (Ct. I); kidnaping (Ct.II); grand theft of a motor vehicle (Ct.III) and grand theft of currency (Ct. IV). (R1:37-38) Hilton pleaded not guilty on March 14, 2008. (Rl:54) The State filed a notice on intent to seek the death penalty on July 28, 2008. (R2:225) Hilton proceeded to a jury trial commencing on February 2, 2011. (JS1-7; Tl-14;Pl-6) On February 15, 2011, the jury found Hilton guilty of first degree murder on both premeditation and felony murder theories (Ct.I), guilty of kidnaping (Ct.II), not guilty of theft of a motor vehicle (Ct.III) and guilty of grand theft of currency (Ct.IV). (R12:2297-2299; T14:1603-1606) At the conclusion of the penalty phase of the trial on February 21, 2011, the jury recommended a death sentence by a vote of 12 to 0. (R12:2315;P6:752-754) The trial court held a Spencer hearing on April 7, 2011, where the State presented victim impact evidence, and the State and the defense made arguments regarding aggravating and mitigating circumstances. (R15:2781- 2826) On April 21, 2011, Circuit Judge James C. Hankinson sentenced Hilton to death for the murder (Ct. I), life in prison for the kidnaping (Ct. II), and five years imprisonment for theft (Ct. IV). (R12:2331-2365; R15:2850-

2853)

In the written order in support of the death sentence, the trial judge found six aggravating circumstances: (1) Hilton was previously convicted of anther capital felony based on his conviction for murder in Georgia (great weight); (2) the capital felony was committed during a kidnaping (great weight); (3) the capital felony was committed to avoid arrest (moderate weight); (4) the capital felony was committed for financial gain (some weight); (5) the capital felony was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel (great weight); the capital felony was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner (great weight). (R12:2343-2356)

The court's order addressed two statutory and ten nonstatutory mitigating circumstances. Hilton asserted two statutory mitigating factors - (1) that Hilton's capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law was substantially impaired, and (2) Hilton was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance at the time of the crime. Regarding the first factor, the court rejected as not proven that Hilton suffered from an impaired capacity to appreciate or conform his conduct. (R12:2355-2356) The court found and gave some weight to the second factor that Hilton was under influence of extreme emotional or mental disturbance. (R12:2357-2358) Ten non-statutory mitigating factors were addressed in the order: (1) Hilton grew up in and emotionally abusive and

neglectful home (some weight); (2) Hilton abused drugs, including Ritalin, over a long period of time (some weight); (3) Hilton had no relationship with his biological father (moderate weight); (4) Hilton is already serving a life sentence (some weight); (5) Hilton served his country in the military (little weight); (6) Hilton suffered maternal deprivation and lacked bonding of a mother and child (some weight); (7) Hilton was placed in foster care as an adolescent (some weight); (8)Hilton grew up financially poor (not proven); (9) Hilton suffered traumatic brain injury as child (some weight); (10) Hilton suffers from severe mental defects (mental defects not proven severe). (R12:2358-2363)

Hilton filed his notice of appeal to this Court on May 4, 2011. (R12:2366)

Facts - Guilt Phase

On Saturday, December 1, 2007, Cheryl Dunlap and a friend, Kiona Hill, spoke around 10:30 in the morning and agreed to have dinner together that evening. (Tl:66-67) Michael and Vikki Shirley went hiking at Leon Sinks near the Leon and Walkulla County line that Saturday afternoon.(Tl:69-71, 90-91) They arrived around 12:30 p.m. (Tl-.72) About an hour later, their hike brought them to Hammock Sink where they saw a woman seated alone reading a book on a platform off the boardwalk. (Tl:73-74, 91) She wore jeans and a sweater. (Tl:75, 94) She later walked past them carrying her hardback book. (Tl:75) Michael later recognized Dunlap's photograph

in the newspaper in connection with her disappearance. (T1:76-78) Dunlap did not show for dinner that evening with Hill, and she did not call. (T1:67) Another friend, Tanya Land, missed Dunlap at church the next day. (T1:60) She went to Dunlap's residence and found her dog there, but her car was missing. (T1:60) Land called the police. (T1:60)

Steven Ganey with the Wakulla County Sheriff's Office received the missing person report on December 3, 2007. (Tl:105-106) Dunlap's car had been identified as a white, Toyota Camry, and it was located on the side of a highway in Leon County parked near the woods. (Tl: 61-62, 106-108) The right rear tire was flat with a puncture in the sidewall. (Tl:109) This puncture location was inconsistent with being caused by running over an object. (Tl:109) Ganey thought the puncture was deliberate. (Tl:110) Before the missing person report, Florida Highway Patrol Trooper Brian Speigner had placed a disabled vehicle ticket on the Camry on December 1, 2007, giving a time for removal of the car. (Tl:117-121) The car was registered to Cheryl Dunlap. (Tl:121) Ganey's search of the immediate area revealed no useful information. (T1:111-115) Later testing of the car for biological evidence and fingerprints revealed nothing of evidentiary value. (T4:457-461, 471-474; T12:1283-1286, 1342)

A review of Cheryl Dunlap's bank account at Ameris Bank in Crawfordville revealed withdrawals during the first week of

December 2007. (T2:190-194) The video showed Dunlap cashed a check in the drive-through teller at 11:17 a.m. on December 1st (T1-.193-194) There were ATM withdrawals on Dunlap's account made at the ATM at Hancock Bank on December 2, 3, and 4, 2007, totaling \$700. (T2:180-192) The custodian of the records at Ameris Bank said that the ATM transactions would have required the PIN for Dunlap's account. (T2:192) Video from the security camera at Hancock Bank recorded the transactions.(T2:197-201) A video analysis expert printed some images from the Hancock Bank security video, and the images show a person making a transaction wearing a blue and white patterned, long-sleeved shirt, glasses, a hat and some type of mask made from tape.(T3:308-327)

On Saturday, December 15, 2007, Ronnie Rentz found Dunlap's body while hunting in the Apalachicola National Forest. (T2:205-2 09) The body was near a dirt, forest road, and it had been covered with some brush and limbs. (T2 :206-207; T4:478) Investigator Amy George with FDLE described the area as about twenty feet in the woods off of National Forest Road 381. (T4:479) The head and both hands were missing from the body. (T4:478) George also attended the autopsy the next day and various samples were obtained for DNA testing. (T4:485-487) Through DNA testing, the body was identified as Cheryl Dunlap. (T4:487)

After Hilton became a suspect, witnesses reported having seen him at various places in the area of the Apalachicola National

Forest. Ethan Davis said Hilton stopped him sometime in November on L.L. Wallace Road, a forest fire road, and asked for help jump starting his vehicle. (T4:394-397) Hilton wore jeans, a flannel shirt, boots, and he had a backpack. (T4:396) Davis declined to help because he was in a borrowed truck and did not want to drive it down the trail to get to Hilton's vehicle. (T4:397) Hilton acted "real weird'⁷ as if there was an emergency. (T4:397) Hilton tried to sell a camp stove to Davis. (T4:398) George Ferguson said he encountered Hilton in November on L.L. Wallace Road. (T2:246-248, 255) Hilton was walking with his dog, an Irish Setter, in the middle of the road. (T2:249) He flagged Ferguson down and asked for help starting his van. (T2:249-250) Ferguson described Hilton as dressed like a woodsman with a small backpack and his pants tucked in his boots. (T2:251-253) He also had a small folding shovel, and Ferguson saw a small knife scabbard under Hilton's jacket, although no knife was visible. (T2:254) Hilton lead Ferguson down a pathlike road off of L.L. Wallace to his white Chevrolet van. (T2:256) There was a campsite and Ferguson noted a lot of camping equipment in the van. (T2:259-260) After starting Hilton's van, Hilton offered to give Ferguson a small camp stove.(T2:258-259) Hilton was very talkative and insisted on giving him instruction on the operation of the stove. (T2:258-259, 265-267) Hilton seemed agitated and had a back and forth movement, but he was very polite. (T2:264, 269)

On December 7th, Brian Bauer encountered Hilton in the Apalachicola National Forest in the woods off Joe Thomas Road. (T4:422-423) Bauer was there to set up his hunting blind for deer season that began the next day. (T4:424) Hilton asked if he knew a place he could camp and if there would be a lot of hunters the next day. (T4:424-425) The next day, Bauer saw Hilton's white van located at the same area where Bauer parked to hunt. (T4:425-426) Steven Prosser met Hilton in the forest during the first week of hunting season on either December 11th or 12th in the Joe Thomas Road area. (T4:428, 434-436) Prosser was about to release his hunting dogs and saw Hilton with his dog standing in front of a van. (T4:430-431) As a courtesy, Prosser walked to Hilton to warn him about the dogs. (T4:431-432) Hilton was talkative and seemed a little nervous. (T4:434) A few days later in the same week, probably December 14th, Prosser, with his hunting group, saw Hilton again about one-half mile from where he first saw him. (T4:436)

Witnesses saw Hilton various times during the month of December 2007. On December 1, 2007, Celeste Hutchins saw a man, she later said was Hilton, standing by a white Camry stopped on the side of Crawfordville Highway. (T2:149-156) He moved from the door area of he car to the trunk that was partially open. (T2:151-153) Loretta Mayfield spoke to a man she later identified as Hilton in the parking lot of a convenience store on December 10th. (T2:210-213) They talked about his dog that had long reddish brown hair.

(T2:213-214) He drove a white van. (T2:215-216) The man wore a blue and white shirt and khaki pants. (T2:216) When shown a photograph from an ATM camera of someone wearing a blue shirt, Mayfield said the shirt was similar. (T2:217) About three hours later, Mayfield was participating in looking for Cheryl Dunlap, and she drove some dirt roads in the Apalachicola Forest. (T2:221) She saw Hilton in his van traveling in the opposite direction on one of these roads. (T2:221-223) On December 18th, Teresa Johnson talked to Hilton in a convenience store about the discovery of Cheryl Dunlap's body twenty miles from the store. (T2:234-240)

Investigators examined and collected evidence from two campsites — one near L.L. Wallace Road and one near Joe Thomas Road. (T2:271, 277-294; T4:443-453, 461-464, 490-513) At the L.L. Wallace campsite, a number of discarded items were collected. (T2:271-294, 461-463) These items included instructions for a camp stove, dog food cans, an empty Top Tobacco pouch, Bugler brand cigarette rolling papers, a empty blister pack for Kroger brand allergy medication, a Kroger coffee jar, a plastic filter, several old newspapers dating back to October, parts of an egg carton, pieces of duct tape, rubber bands, a nicotine gum pack, some pink colored security tape, pieces of paper towels, pieces of masking tape, plastic bags, empty containers for latex gloves and for rubber bands. (T2:271-294) The campsite near Joe Thomas Road was processed. (T4:490-502) This campsite had a fire pit that contained

human hand and skull bones the medical examiner identified on site. (T4:450, 494, 497-499; T5:563-565) The fire pit area also contained pieces of a zipper, a metal clip and pieces of snap, white batting material and some burned fabric. (T4:495, 499-500) A hand rolled cigarette butt was found, and later DNA testing of the cigarette revealed a a partial DNA profile matching Hilton's. (T4:503-504; T12:1290-1292) One plastic bead found at the site prompted investigators to retrieve sixteen plastic beads from the back floorboard of Dunlap's car that were initially deemed irrelevant. (T4:475-478, 500-501) A portion of a blister pack for allergy medication was also found. (T4:447-448 504-505) Other items included a plastic grocery bag containing feces, a newspaper, a rubber band and a paper towel. (T512-513) The newspaper was a Tallahassee Democrat dated December 11, 2007. (T4:446, 513) The paper towel had "home sweet home" and a blue green pattern. (T4:514)

Dr. Anthony Clarke, an associate medical examiner, performed an autopsy on Dunlap's body on December 16, 2007. (T5:532-535) The body had changes due to decomposition. (T5: 539-540) Initial xrays of the body did not reveal any foreign objects or bone fractures other than the area where the neck, head and hands were missing. (T5:539-541) Although there were soft tissue defects due to decomposition and insect activity, Clarke identified a scalloping wound edges and some scoring of the bones where the neck

and head were removed. (T5:542-545) These findings were consistent with a sharp-bladed instrument being used. (T5:542-545) The area where the hands had been removed were consistent with them having been cut off, but Clarke did not find any tool markings. (T5:545-546) Clarke concluded the body was dismembered after death. (T5-.549) A significant pre-mortem bruise was located on the middle to lower back. (T5:550-552) The bruise was inconsistent with a normal fall injury, since the area is not one readily exposed to injury. (T5:552) However, the injury could occur if the person fell back onto a large object such as a rock. (T5:552) This bruise appeared to have occurred hours or perhaps days before death. (T5:553) Clarke could not determine the mechanism of death, but he thought it might have been related to the missing neck and head. (T5:559) Based on circumstances, Clarke opined death was caused by homicide. (T5:559-560) Clarke could not determine a certain time of death. (T5:563) He gave a rough estimate that the body could have been in the woods seven to ten days, but he also said the time could have been up to fifteen days. (T5:563, 567) A sexual assault test revealed no useful DNA evidence. (T5:560-561; T12:1301-1330) At a later time, Clarke observed charred bones found in fire pit in the Joe Thomas Road area. (T5:563-564) He concluded that these were human hand and skull bones of the type missing from the body. (T5:564-565)

Anthony Falsetti, a forensic anthropologist, examined the

charred hand and skull bones. (T8:795-807) He concluded the bones were from a small adult, either male or female, over the age of sixteen or eighteen years. (T8:807-808) The seventh cervical vertebra bone present showed seven cut marks. (T8:810-815) Four carpel bones from a wrist had cut marks. (T8:811-816) These marks were consistent with the cutting of the hands. (T8:816) The bones were badly charred, but Falsetti selected ones with the best chance of providing a DNA sample for testing. (T8:809) No DNA could be obtained from the bones. (T8:826-837)

Hilton was arrested in Georgia. (T10:1091) In an interview with Agent Clay Bridges with the Georgia Bureau of Investigation, Hilton gave information on where to find his bayonet on a hiking trail in North Georgia. (T10:101096-1097) The bayonet was located on a hiking trail on Blood Mountain in North Georgia. (T10:1098-1100) Jeff Foggy, a tool mark expert with FDLE, examined the bayonet and compared it to the puncture marks on the tire from Dunlap's car. (T10:1101-1119) Foggy opined that the bayonet made the cuts found in the tire. (T10:1120-1121)

After Hilton's arrest, Georgia law enforcement gathered many items from Hilton's van and some items Hilton was seen discarding in a dumpster at a convenience store. (T5:574-626; T7:696-703, 728-T8:793) From the dumpster, officers found a U.S. Forestry citation issued to Hilton for unauthorized camping. (T5:590, 603-604) Other items included a knife and sheath, High Tech boots, some chain, a

padlock, gloves, a jacket, a folding police baton, a blue backpack. (T583-626; T7:696-703, 731-732, 738) A search of Hilton's van revealed clothing, jackets, gloves, camping equipment, duffle bags, two sleeping bags, High Tech boots, a camera, tobacco rolling papers, Hilton's Georgia drivers license, tape, paper towels, maps, two BB pistols, a book purchased at a Tallahassee book store, and dog food. (T7:728-T8:793) Many of these items were tested for possible biological evidence. (T12:1270-1342) Hilton's DNA was present on several items. (T12:1270-1342) The High Tech boots found in the dumpster had a mixture of DNA of at least two people including Hilton. (T12:1295)(State exhibit 175) A stain on the shoe lace of the right boot contained a mixture of DNA that included Dunlap as a major contributor. (T12:1295, 1338) A black duffle bag from the van had a DNA mixture including Hilton, and Dunlap was a possible contributor. (T12:1297-1298,1340)(State exhibit 207) On a purple sleeping bag, there was a DNA mixture, and Dunlap could not be excluded as a contributor. (T12:1303, 1334)(State exhibit 210) A DNA mixture found on a blue sleeping bag included Dunlap as a major contributor. (T12:1303-1305, 1336)(State exhibit 212) Another mixture of DNA found on some blue pants included Dunlap as a major contributor. (T12:1306-1307) (State exhibit 220)

The State introduced two portions of statements Hilton made to law enforcement over defense objections. On February 12, 2008, Sergeant David Graham and Detective Dawn Dennis with the Leon

County Sheriff s Office executed a search warrant on Hilton while he was in custody in Georgia. (Til:1164-1165) Mitchell Posey, an agent with GBI, assisted in the collection of buccal swabs, hair and fingerprints from Hilton. (Til:1166) Although Hilton was not questioned, the entire execution of the warrant was recorded. (Tll:1167-1168) (State's Exhibit 200) Portions of the recording were played for the jury over defense objections. (Til:1175-1194) During the process, Hilton talked about a number of things about the weather to drought conditions. (Til:1175-1180) At one point, Hilton said he would give a complete statement for immunity. (Til:1180) Later, Hilton said that he "started hunting in September" of last year, and there was nothing before that time. (TIl:1184)

On June 6, 2008, Sergeant Graham, along with two other law enforcement officers, transported Hilton by car from Georgia to Florida. (Til:1194-1195) Hilton was not questioned during the drive. (Til:1195) Hilton talked in a rambling monologue about a vast number of subjects from his clothes, his health, his lack of family, lack of employment, the wars, his military training, the economy, the interest rates, the housing crisis, credit card debt, volcanos, the oil supply, the assassination of President Kennedy, hurricanes and Tallahassee traffic. (Til:1204-1207) Graham acknowledged that Hilton made a number of outrageous comments during the trip. (Til: 1207) An audio recording of the trip was

made. (Til:1195-1196)(State Exhibit 298) The State played portions of the recording at trial. (Til:1199-1203) In the statement, Hilton said.

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