IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

GARY MICHAEL HILTON

Appellant,

V.

CASE NO. SC11-898

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
IN AND FOR LEON COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

MEREDITH CHARBULA Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0708399

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS PL-01, The Capitol Tallahassee, Florida (850) 414-3300, Ext. 3583 (850) 487-0997 (Fax)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Another witness, Dr. Abbey Strauss, testified that Hilton had never killed anyone until he was 60 years old. Accordingly, the question was, from a psychiatric standpoint, what changed? (TR Vol. 39, page 239). Dr. Strauss told the jury that Hilton may have been involved in "minor scrapes" but nothing that rose to the level of these horrible crimes. (TR Vol. 39, page 239). Dr. Strauss testified that, in his opinion, what had changed about Hilton was that Hilton was put on Ritalin and Effexor which made him impulsive and probably delusional at times. (TR Vol. 39, page 240). Dr. Strauss told the jury that "it was the situation, the culmination situation mostly triggered by the οf t.he inappropriate prescriptions of the Ritalin and the Effexor that just pushed him over the edge. (TR Vol. 39, page 260). Dr. Strauss opined that both statutory mental mitigators applied because the medication that Hilton was prescribed induced the change in his mental status. (TR Vol. 39, page 260-261)

Dr. Prichard's testimony did not introduce improper nonstatutory aggravation into the case. Instead, Dr. Prichard's testimony was proper rebuttal evidence. Accordingly, the trial

¹³ During cross examination, Dr. Wu admitted Hilton had been aggressive before Ritalin. (TR Vol. 38, pages 144-146).

court committed no error in allowing Dr. Prichard to testify in rebuttal to Hilton's expert witnesses.

This Court has drawn the distinction between improper non-statutory aggravation and proper rebuttal evidence. In <u>Zack v. State</u>, 911 So.2d 1190 (Fla. 2005), the defendant presented expert testimony that Zack killed his victim because she pushed his "hot button." In rebuttal, the State called Dr. Harry McClaren. Dr. McClaren testified that Zack hated women. This Court found that because the State offered this evidence in rebuttal to the defendant's theory of the murder, Dr. McClaren's testimony was properly admitted. Zack v. State, 911 So.2d at 1209.

The same is true in this case. Hilton's theory of defense was that "Ritalin made me do it." In support of that theory, Hilton presented experts who opined that Ritalin was the trigger for the murders because, according to them, up until the age of 60, Hilton had not engaged in such violent behavior. As such, the State was entitled to present evidence that Hilton had been violent and aggressive long before he was prescribed Ritalin. Moreover, just as Hilton was, the State was entitled to present the factual bases upon its expert based his diagnosis.

In claiming the trial judge erred in allowing much of Dr. Prichard's testimony to come before the jury, Hilton cites to several cases decided by this Court. All of them are distinguishable from the case at bar.

Hilton first cites to <u>Geralds v. State</u>, 601 So.2d 1157 (Fla. 1992) (IB 54). In <u>Geralds</u>, this Court found it was improper for the prosecution to impeach a lay witness, Dana Wilson, who testified that Geralds had been a good neighbor who played well with Wilson's children. On cross-examination, the State attempted to impeach Mr. Wilson by asking him whether he knew about Gerald's eight felony convictions. This Court ruled the State improperly introduced inadmissible evidence of non-statutory aggravating circumstances in the guise of impeachment of a lay witness. Geralds v. State, 601 So.2d at 1162.

Hilton also cites to Perry v. State, 801 So.2d 78 (Fla. 2001). In Perry, the State, in its case in aggravation, presented the testimony of the defendant's ex-wife, who testified about the numerous instances of domestic violence. Id. at 90. While the State alleged that defense counsel "opened the door" to this testimony during the guilt phase of the trial by claiming the defendant was nonviolent, the record did not support this claim. This Court ruled that the ex-wife's testimony regarding the defendant's prior violent acts, all unrelated to the crime at issue and not offered in support of any aggravating circumstance, constituted impermissible non-statutory aggravation, not "anticipatory rebuttal." Id.

Next, Hilton cites to <u>Hitchcock v. State</u>, 673 So.3d 859 (Fla. 1996). In <u>Hitchcock</u>, the State elicited testimony from the

defendant's sister, during the State's case in aggravation, that Hitchcock had sexually abused her. This Court found the testimony constituted impermissible non-statutory aggravation.

Finally, Hilton cites to Robinson v. State, 487 So.2d 1040 (Fla. 1986). As in Geralds, Robinson's lay witnesses testified, essentially, that Robinson was a good guy. The prosecutor asked these witnesses whether they were aware that Robinson had committed other crimes after the murder, including rape. This Court found the trial judge erred in overruling the defendant's objections.

All of the cases to which Hilton cites are not the least bit like the case at bar. In Geralds, Perry, Hitchcock and Robinson, the state introduced non-statutory aggravation into the case through lay witnesses, none of whom offered an opinion about the murder or its triggers. In contrast, the State put on Dr. Prichard in rebuttal to the defense's mitigation witnesses who testified that in their view, the defendant had brain damage, a major mental illness and that "Ritalin made him do it." See Zack v. State, 911 So.2d 1190, 1209 (Fla. 2005). This Court's decision in Zack supports the admission of Dr. Prichard's testimony and all of the cases to which Hilton cites are clearly distinguishable. Accordingly, this Court should find the trial court committed no error in allowing Dr. Prichard to testify.

Even if this Court were to find the trial court erred in allowing some of Dr. Prichard's testimony, any error is harmless.

The prosecutor did not argue that the jury should consider any of Hilton's prior criminal acts as statutory aggravation. Moreover, Hilton's own experts testified about some of Hilton's prior criminal conduct. For instance, Dr. Wu testified, without objection, that Hilton had shot his step-father at the age of 14, and had been involved in arson and an aggravated assault. (TR Vol. 38, page 144; TR Vol. 39, page 192). Dr. Golden also told the jury that Hilton stole from people, got arrested, was vagrant, cheated people, used multiple illegal drugs and he did things he clearly should not have done. (TR Vol. 39, page 193, 204).

Finally, the trial court properly instructed the jurors as to the aggravating factors they could consider. None of the aggravators upon which the jury was instructed included any of the alleged non-statutory aggravators about which Hilton complains. Accordingly, any error in allowing Dr. Prichard to testify, as to the underlying acts that caused him to reach his professional opinions, was harmless. Zack v. State, 911 So.2d 1190, 1209 (Fla. 2005).

ISSUE III

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN EXCUSING THE STATE'S MENTAL HEALTH EXPERT, DR. GREG PRICHARD, FROM THE SEQUESTRATION RULE, IN PERMITTING DR. PRICHARD TO RENDER AN OPINON ON THE OPINIONS OF THE DEFENDANT'S MENTAL HEALTH EXPERTS AND TO DENY THE DEFENDANT'S REQUEST FOR A JURY INSTRUCTION CONCERNING THE TESTIMONY OF THE STATE'S MENTAL HEALTH EXPERT

In this claim, Hilton makes three allegations of error: (1) the trial judge erred in excusing Dr. Prichard from the sequestration rule; (2) the trial judge erred in permitting Dr. Prichard to testify that he disagreed with the diagnosis and opinions of the defendant's mental health experts and (3) the trial judge erred in denying the defendants request for a jury instruction concerning the state's mental health expert. The trial court committed no error.

A. The Sequestration Issue

Because the state filed its notice of intent to seek the death penalty more than 45 days after arraignment, the defendant filed a motion requesting an order precluding the state's expert from examining Hilton pursuant to Rule 3.202, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure. (TR Vol. 10, pages 1870-8172). 14 The court granted the motion. (TR Vol. 10, pages 1931-1932).

¹⁴ Rule 3.202, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure allows the state to choose a mental health expert to examine the defendant before the penalty phase. The rule allows such an examination if the defendant gives notice of its intent to present expert testimony of mental mitigation. The caveat is, that in order to take advantage

As such, before the penalty phase began, the State asked the court to allow Dr. Prichard to remain in the courtroom to assist the state and to possibly testify in rebuttal. The defense objected. (TR Vol. 38, page 33). The court overruled the objection and permitted Dr. Prichard to remain in the courtroom. (TR Vol. 38, page 33).

Generally, once the witness sequestration rule has been invoked, a trial court should not permit a witness to remain in the courtroom during proceedings when he or she is not on the witness stand. Randolph v. State, 463 So.2d 186, 191-92 (Fla.1984). rule of sequestration is not an absolute rule, however, and the trial court has discretion to determine whether a particular witness should be excluded from the rule. Id. Indeed, Section 90.616, Florida Statutes, permits the trial court to excuse a witness from the sequestration rule if the person's presence is shown by the party's attorney to be essential to the presentation of the party's cause. This exception to the sequestration rule set forth in Section 90.616, Florida Statutes, is applied most commonly to expert witnesses because "experts are testifying to their opinions rather than to factual matters." Charles W. Ehrhardt, Florida Evidence § 616.1, at 510 (1998 ed.). See also Knight v.

of the rule, the State must give notice of its intent to seek the death penalty within 45 days of arraignment. Nothing in the rule suggests the trial judge has discretion to excuse the 45 day rule for good cause shown or to inquire whether the defendant suffered

<u>State</u>, 746 So.2d 423, 430 (Fla. 1998). The trial court has wide discretion in determining which witnesses are essential. <u>Knight v.</u> State, 746 So.2d at 430.

In this case, Dr. Prichard was an expert witness whose presence in the courtroom, under the circumstances, was essential to the State's ability to rebut mental mitigation that Hilton offered at the penalty phase of his capital trial. The defendant called four expert witnesses and the only meaningful way for the State to rebut the defendant's mental mitigation was to have Dr. Prichard present in the courtroom. <u>Burns v. State</u>, 609 So.2d 600 (Fla. 1992). The trial court did not abuse its wide discretion in exempting Dr. Prichard from the rule of sequestration because having Dr. Prichard in the courtroom was the only meaningful way to level the playing field.

Even if the trial court erred in allowing Dr. Prichard to remain in the courtroom, any error is harmless. The purpose of the rule of sequestration is to avoid a witness coloring his or her testimony by hearing the testimony of another, thereby discouraging fabrication, inaccuracy, and collusion. Knight v. State, 746 So.2d 423 (1998). Hilton makes no allegation that Dr. Prichard's testimony was colored by the testimony of the defendant's four mental health experts.

any prejudice from the "late" notice.

Additionally, Dr. Prichard was not a fact witness. Instead, he was offered only to render an opinion. Dr. Prichard did not directly rebut any factual assertions made by lay witnesses during the penalty phase, including evidence of Hilton's difficult childhood and his history of drug abuse, including Ritalin abuse. Indeed, Dr. Prichard even agreed with Hilton's experts that Hilton was anti-social. (TR Vol. 41, page 577).

Further, the jury was aware that Dr. Prichard had listened to the testimony of the other witnesses during the penalty phase. On cross-examination, Hilton elicited Dr. Prichard's testimony that he has "sat through the entire penalty phase, in this case ... and handed notes to Mr. Meggs." (TR Vol. 42, page 633).

Moreover, the defense was permitted to tell the jury, in the form of a question, that Dr. Prichard had not personally examined Hilton because "the State violated the rules." (TR Vol. 42, page 638). Indeed, one persistent theme of the defendant's cross-examination was that Dr. Prichard had not personally interviewed Hilton. (TR Vol. 42, pages 635, 636, 637, 638,639, 643, and 644).

Because Dr. Prichard did not directly refute the factual testimony of the lay witnesses during the penalty phase but merely offered opinions that differed from the defendant's experts, admitted he had observed the testimony of other witnesses during the penalty phase, and because there is no suggestion that either Dr. Prichard's opinions or factual predicates upon which his

opinions were based would have been different if he had not been allowed direct access to the other testimony elicited during the penalty phase, any error is harmless. <u>Hernandez v. State</u>, 4 So.3d 642, 664-665 (Fla. 2009).

B. The opinion issue

In this part of his third claim, Hilton alleges the trial judge erred in allowing Dr. Prichard to offer an opinion about the diagnoses offered by the defendant's experts. Hilton claims it is improper to comment on the credibility of another witness. While that may be true, this is not what happened in this case.

Hilton cites to several cases, none of which support reversal for a new penalty phase. First, Hilton cites to <u>Caban v. State</u>, 9 So.3d 50 (Fla. 5th DCA 2009). In <u>Caban</u>, the Fifth District Court of Appeal ruled that questions that seek to elicit an expert opinion critical of the validity of an opposing expert's opinions are improper. The court went on to say that an expert may properly explain his opinion on an issue in controversy by outlining the claimed deficiencies in the opposing expert's methodology, so long as the expert does not attack the opposing expert's ability, credibility, reputation or competence.

Hilton next cites to <u>Carver v. Orange County</u>, 444 So.2d 452 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984). In <u>Carver</u>, the Fifth District Court of Appeal ruled that it was improper for the trial court to allow counsel for Orange County to elicit testimony from its own expert as to the

ability of the plaintiff's expert. According to the Court, it is improper to impeach an expert witness by eliciting from another expert witness what he thinks of that expert. Carver, 444 So.2d at 454.

Finally, Hilton cites to this Court's opinion in Schwab v. Tolley, 345 So.2d 747 (Fla. 1977). In a medical malpractice case, this Court noted that it was improper to elicit from one expert what he thinks of another. This Court observed that the proper method for impeaching an expert's opinion is by the introduction of contrary opinion based on the same facts. Id. at 754.

In this case, the trial judge committed no error because Dr. Prichard did not tell the jury what he thought of Drs. Wu, Golden, Strauss, or Morton. Nor did he comment on their credibility, competence, ability or their reputation. Instead, Dr. Prichard testified that he disagreed with the various diagnoses offered by Hilton's experts. He also offered his own diagnosis. As noted by this Court in Schwab, that is exactly what an expert is permitted to do. See e.g. Hernandez v. State, 4 So.3d 642 (Fla. 2009) (noting that Dr. McClaren testified that he disagreed with Drs. Bingham and Turner on whether Hernandez's capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of law was substantially impaired and noting as well that Dr. McClaren also disagreed with Dr. Turner regarding whether the crime was committed while Hernandez was under the influence of

extreme mental or emotional disturbance). The trial court committed no error.

Even if it was error to allow Dr. Prichard to testify that he disagreed with the diagnoses offered by Hilton's mental health experts, any error is harmless. Even assuming the prosecutor could not elicit testimony, directly, that Dr. Prichard disagreed with Hilton's mental health experts, the State could do so indirectly. For example, it would be perfectly proper to ask Dr. Prichard whether he believed Hilton had schizoaffective disorder. It would have been perfectly proper for Dr. Prichard to say no. Likewise, it would have been perfectly proper for the State to ask Dr. Prichard whether he believed that Hilton was under an extreme emotional disturbance at the time of the crime or whether Hilton's capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law was substantially impaired. It would have been perfectly proper for Dr. Prichard to say no and why. Accordingly, any error in allowing the state to ask whether Dr. Prichard agreed or disagreed with a particular diagnosis is harmless.

C. The instruction issue

In this final sub-claim of Issue III, Hilton alleges the trial judge erred in denying defense counsel's request for an added instruction to the standard expert witness instruction. Hilton requested the court to add a line to the standard "expert witness"

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